2008

Miller Family Real Estate, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. Saied Hajizadeh, an individual : Appellant's Opening Brief

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to UTAH CODE §78A-4-103(2)(j)(2008).

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

ISSUE I: Does the Real Estate Purchase Contract ("REPC") herein provide that Plaintiff buyer was required to (1) give notice of a dispute, (2) schedule mediation within 30 days of such notice **and** (3) complete such mediation, all as conditions precedent to Defendant seller's obligation to close on the contract?¹ Standard of Appellate Review:

¹. Issue Preserved: Defendant seller set out these conditions precedent in Defendant's Reply Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Request for an Order Dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint With Prejudice, and Other Relief (R. 153-54):

... (1) Buyer was required to provide seller with notice as a condition precedent to the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; (2) such mediation was required to occur within 30 days of such notice, thus making the 30-day deadline an additional condition precedent on the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; and (3) mediation was required to occur as a condition precedent to the buyer's right to bring suit... ."

Defendant seller also set out these conditions precedent in oral argument:

MR. COLESSIDES: Our position, your Honor, is, there is a series of conditions precedent that are required to be fulfilled, I just want to make the record clear, your Honor, that we believe that number one, the buyer was required to provide seller with notice as a condition precedent to the seller's obligation to submit to--this to mediation.

Number two, such mediation was required to occur within 30 days of such notice, because of the mandatory language "shall." Thus making the 30-day deadline an additional conditional (sic) precedent on the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation.

And three, the mediation was required to occur as a condition precedent to the buyer's right to bring this suit... .

(R. 337, Transcript of Hearing on Defendant's Motion For Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs, p.19, ll.4--17)(Addendum Exh. 1).

Correctness:²

ISSUE II: Did the trial court err in dismissing Plaintiff buyer's complaint **without** prejudice, rather than **with** prejudice, given that Plaintiff buyer failed to timely comply with the conditions precedent expressly set forth in the Contract and is now prohibited by the contract from doing so?³ Standard of Appellate Review: Correctness:⁴

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES
OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL**

UTAH RULES CIV. PROC. 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6)

Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter ... (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted... .

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, disposition in the court below

This is a straightforward case of enforcing the unambiguous, express terms of a real estate contract between two sophisticated commercial parties.

Plaintiff buyer drafted and submitted to Defendant seller a Real Estate Purchase

². Interwest Const. v. Palmer, 923 P.2d 1350, 1358-59 (Utah 1996)("If a contract is unambiguous, a trial court may interpret the contract as a matter of law, and we review the court's interpretation for correctness.").

³. Issue Preserved: (R. 129-130)(Defendant seller's **Amended** Objection to Plaintiff's Proposed Order of Dismissal; Dismissal Should be "With Prejudice").

⁴. Foster v. Montgomery, 2003 UT App 405, ¶11, 82 P.2d 191 (Whether there was failure of conditions precedent, where contract interpretation does not require resort to extrinsic evidence, is matter of law, "and on such questions we accord the trial court's interpretation no presumption of correctness.").

Contract (REPC) offer to purchase Defendant seller's real estate. The REPC expressly and unambiguously provided that if Defendant seller defaulted: (1) buyer was required to provide seller with notice as a condition precedent to the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; (2) such mediation was required to occur within 30 days of such notice, thus making the 30-day deadline an additional condition precedent on the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; and (3) mediation was required to occur as a condition precedent to the buyer's right to bring suit. Instead of fulfilling all these conditions precedent to suit, Plaintiff buyer filed a complaint in district court against Defendant seller.

Defendant seller successfully moved to dismiss Plaintiff buyer's complaint and was awarded attorney fees as the prevailing party. The trial court, however, dismissed Plaintiff buyer's complaint "without prejudice." Since Plaintiff buyer did not fulfill the conditions expressly set out in the REPC as necessary pre-requisites to its ability to bring suit--and since such necessary pre-requisites were supposed to occur within a definite time frame that has now passed--the trial court should have dismissed Plaintiff buyer's complaint "with prejudice."

In conjunction with this Opening Brief, Defendant seller has filed a Petition for Emergency Relief, or in the Alternative, a Motion for Stay Pending Appeal, in the identical parallel case filed by Plaintiff seller and currently pending before Judge Medley.

Statement of Facts

1. Defendant seller owns certain land and buildings located at 5712 South State Street

in Murray, Utah (hereinafter "the Property").⁵

2. Plaintiff buyer desired to buy the Property because its strategic location would serve to substantially grow and increase profits of Plaintiff's related businesses -- automobile dealerships, which adjoined the Property.⁶

3. Plaintiff buyer drafted an offer to purchase and submitted it to Defendant seller on January 5, 2007.⁷

4. The parties bargained intensely about the terms of the contract, as shown by the four (4) addenda to the contract that passed back and forth between the parties during their negotiations.⁸

5. The parties' negotiations culminated in a Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) which became effective on March 1, 2007.⁹

6. Closing on the REPC was set for April 30, 2007.¹⁰

7. Defendant seller refused to close on April 30, 2007 and by letter of that date so informed Plaintiff buyer.¹¹

⁵. R. 2, ¶ 2 (Plaintiff buyer's Complaint).

⁶. R. 2, ¶ 6 (Plaintiff's Complaint).

⁷. R. 8--18 (REPC), at 11, Addendum Exh. 2 (Offer Reference Date: January 5, 2007).

⁸. R. 13--18, Addendum Exh. 2 (four (4) Addenda to REPC).

⁹. R. 8--18 (REPC), at 18, Addendum Exh. 2 ("March 1, 2007 (1:00 p.m.)").

¹⁰. R. 2, ¶ 8 (Plaintiff's Complaint).

¹¹. R. 3, ¶ 10 (Plaintiff's Complaint).

8. On May 8, 2007, Plaintiff-buyer filed its complaint in the district court.¹²

9. On February 4, 2008, the district court granted Defendant seller's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff buyer's complaint, but such dismissal was without prejudice to its refiling.¹³

10. On March 24, 2008, the district court entered its order granting attorney fees to Defendant seller as the prevailing party in connection with his Motion to Dismiss.¹⁴

Second identical lawsuit filed by Plaintiff buyer; Defendant seller's request for stay

11. **Meanwhile**, on September 7, 2007, the day after Judge Kennedy in this case announced his decision to dismiss Plaintiff buyer's suit, Plaintiff buyer filed a *second* lawsuit against Defendant.¹⁵

12. The *second lawsuit* ("Judge Medley case") is *identical* to the lawsuit that Judge Kennedy dismissed below.¹⁶

13. However, at a hearing on July 7, 2008, Judge Medley in the *second lawsuit* denied

¹². R. 1 (Plaintiff's complaint, stamped filed May 8, 2007).

¹³. R. 171-72, Addendum Exh. 3 (Dismissal without prejudice).

¹⁴. R. 288-89, Addendum Exh. 4 (order granting attorney fees).

¹⁵. R. 337 Transcript of Hearing on Defendant's Motion For Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs, p.4, ll.13--15 ("MR. MOORE:... then the following day, [Plaintiff buyer] filed a complaint for specific performance and recorded a lis pendens. The second complaint...was assigned to Judge Medley [case No. 070912945].")(Addendum Exh. 1).

¹⁶. R. 337 Transcript of Hearing on Defendant's Motion For Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs, p.5, ll.5--11 ("MR. MOORE:... [The Medley case]--it's basically ... same allegations. The only difference is the defendant has a corporate entity [Exclusive Cars, Inc.] that actually occupies the premises and they were named as a co-defendant in the action before Judge Medley. In the [Kennedy case below], it's just the fee title holder [Saied Hajizadeh] that is named.")(Addendum Exh. 1).

Defendant seller's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Stay.¹⁷

14. Concurrently with this Opening Brief, Defendant seller has filed a Petition for Emergency Relief or in the Alternative, a Motion for Stay Pending Appeal, to stay the **Judge Medley** case, pending the resolution of this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a straightforward case of enforcing the unambiguous, express terms of a real estate contract between two sophisticated commercial parties.

Plaintiff buyer drafted and submitted to Defendant seller a Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) offer to purchase Defendant seller's real estate. The REPC expressly and unambiguously provided that if Defendant seller defaulted: (1) buyer was required to provide seller with notice as a condition precedent to the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; (2) such mediation was required to occur within 30 days of such notice, thus making the 30-day deadline an additional condition precedent on the seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; and (3) mediation was required to occur as a condition precedent to the buyer's right to bring suit. Instead of fulfilling all these conditions precedent to suit, Plaintiff buyer filed a complaint in district court against Defendant seller.

Defendant seller successfully moved to dismiss Plaintiff buyer's complaint and was awarded attorney fees as the prevailing party. The trial court, however, dismissed Plaintiff buyer's complaint "without prejudice." Since Plaintiff buyer did not fulfill the conditions

¹⁷. Addendum Exh. 5 (Docket in Medley Case). This court may take judicial notice of such docket. UTAH R. EVIDENCE 201(b)(2)(Judicial notice of adjudicative facts that are capable of accurate and ready determination).

expressly set out in the REPC as necessary pre-requisites to its ability to bring suit--and since such necessary pre-requisites were supposed to occur within a definite time frame that has now passed--the trial court should have dismissed Plaintiff buyer's complaint "with prejudice."

Both because mediation as an alternative dispute resolution mechanism is highly favored in Utah, and because of the express terms of the parties' contract here, the trial court should have dismissed Plaintiff buyer's complaint with prejudice.

In conjunction with this Opening Brief, Defendant seller has filed a Petition for Emergency Relief, or in the Alternative, a Motion for Stay Pending Appeal, in the identical parallel case filed by Plaintiff seller and currently pending before Judge Medley.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PARTIES' CONTRACT ESTABLISHED MANDATORY TIME LIMITS FOR GIVING NOTICE OF A CONTRACT DISPUTE, FOR SCHEDULING MEDIATION, AND FOR CONDUCTING SUCH MEDIATION

A. Mediation is highly favored in Utah as an alternative dispute resolution mechanism

"The overall purpose of...mediation...is to encourage settlement, deter protracted litigation, and expedite and simplify the final settlement of cases."¹⁸ In Utah, mediation as a dispute resolution mechanism is highly favored as a matter of public policy.¹⁹ Indeed, Utah statutes provide for **mandatory** mediation in many and varied settings, including: (1) takings

¹⁸. Dessart v. Burak, 252 Mich. App. 490, 498, 652 N.W.2d 669, 674 (2002).

¹⁹. See generally UTAH CODE §§ 78B-10-101--114(Utah Uniform Mediation Act).

and eminent domain,²⁰ (2) divorce,²¹ (3) medical malpractice,²² (4) cases in the trial courts, where a Utah judge or commissioner may refer "to mediation any case for which...[there is an] established program,²³ and (5) cases on appeal.²⁴

B. Failure to fulfill conditions precedent in a timely manner as required by a contract bars enforcement of the substantive claims involved

A "condition precedent" is defined as "an act or event, other than lapse of time, that must exist or occur before a duty to perform something promised arises."²⁵ Compulsory contractual conditions precedent to litigation bar any subsequent lawsuit where the contractual conditions precedent have not been fulfilled:

Under well-established principles of contract interpretation, where the duty of the obligor to perform is contingent upon the occurrence or existence of a condition precedent, **the obligee may not require performance by the obligor**, because the obligor's duty, and conversely the obligee's right to demand performance, does not arise until that condition occurs or exists. *See* 3A Arthur L. Corbin, *Corbin on*

²⁰. UTAH CODE § 13-43-204 (2)("[In takings or eminent domain settings, if]...mediation is requested by a private property owner ...the government entity or condemning entity **shall** participate in the mediation...as if the matter were ordered to mediation...by a court.")(emphasis added).

²¹. UTAH CODE § 30-3-39(1)("There is established a **mandatory** domestic mediation program to help reduce the time and tensions associated with obtaining a divorce.")(emphasis added).

²². Utah Code § 78B-3-421(b)(i)("When a medical malpractice action is arbitrated, the action **shall**...include any one or more of the following hen requested by the patient before an arbitration hearing is commenced:...**mandatory mediation**... .")(emphasis added).

²³. UTAH CODE § 78B-6-207(1)(emphasis added).

²⁴. UTAH R. APP. P. 28A(d)(participation in appellate-court ordered mediation is **mandatory**).

²⁵. Black's Law Dictionary 289 (7th ed. 1999).

Contracts § 628, at 16 (1960). **Failure of a material condition precedent relieves the obligor of any duty to perform.** *See id.* § 630, at 20-21.²⁶

C. Here, the parties' contract provides that mediation was required to occur in a timely manner, and if not, then enforcement of the contract was forever barred

"If the language within the four corners of [a] contract is unambiguous, the parties' intentions are determined from the plain meaning of the contractual language, and the contract may be interpreted as a matter of law."²⁷

Paragraph 15 of the parties' real estate contract herein provides:

15. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. The parties agree that **any dispute or claim relating to this Contract, including but not limited to the disposition of the Earnest Money Deposit and the breach or termination of this Contract,** shall first be submitted to mediation in accordance with the Utah Real Estate Buyer/Seller Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Each party agrees to bear its own costs of mediation. Mediation **shall** take place within 30 days after notice by either party of the existence of a dispute or claim. Any agreement signed by the parties pursuant to mediation shall be binding. If mediation fails, the procedures applicable and remedies available under this **Contract** shall apply. Nothing in this Section shall prohibit the Buyer from seeking specific performance by the Seller by filing a complaint with the court, serving it on the Seller by means of summons or as otherwise permitted by law, and recording a lis pendens with regard to the action; provided that the Buyer permits the Seller to refrain from answering the complaint pending mediation. Also the parties may agree in writing to waive mediation.²⁸

Thus, (1) once Plaintiff-buyer became aware that Defendant seller allegedly breached,

²⁶. Harper v. Great Salt Lake Council, Inc., 1999 UT 34, ¶ 14, 976 P.2d 1213 (emphasis added); see also Low v. City of Monticello, 2002 UT 90, ¶ 20, 54 P.3d 1153 (citing Harper case for same proposition).

²⁷. Saleh v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 2006 UT 20, ¶ 21, 133 P.3d 428 quoting Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn, 2003 UT 50, ¶ 17, 84 P.3d 1134.

²⁸. R. 10, ¶15, Addendum Exh. 2 (REPC)(emphasis added).

Plaintiff buyer was required to provide Defendant seller with notice as a condition precedent to the Defendant seller's obligation to participate in mediation; (2) such mediation was required to occur within 30 days of such notice, thereby making the 30-day deadline an additional condition precedent on the Defendant seller's obligation to submit the dispute to mediation; and (3) mediation was required to occur, which was a further condition precedent on the Plaintiff buyer's right to sue.

Instead, Plaintiff-buyer became aware on April 30, 2007 that Defendant-seller allegedly had breached,²⁹ and then almost immediately, on May 8, 2007, Plaintiff-buyer filed its complaint in the district court.³⁰

According to the penultimate sentence of Paragraph 15, Plaintiff buyer could have sought specific performance by filing a complaint and *lis pendens*, but only "provided that the Buyer permits the Seller to refrain from answering the complaint **pending mediation**." This confirms that Plaintiff buyer was required to initiate the mediation **before** filing suit, which Plaintiff buyer did not do.

The consequences of Plaintiff buyer's failure to fulfill the mandatory condition precedent to suit set out in Paragraph 15 of the contract are expressly and unambiguously spelled out in Paragraph 16, which provides:

"Where a Section of this Contract provides a specific remedy, the parties intend that

²⁹. R. 3 (Plaintiff's complaint, ¶ 10: "On April 30, 2007, Defendant refused to close and, via a letter from his attorney, informed Plaintiff that he will [sic] not close on the sale of the Property...").

³⁰. R. 1 (Plaintiff's complaint, stamped filed May 8, 2007).

the remedy **shall be exclusive regardless of rights which might otherwise be available under common law.**"³¹

Since Plaintiff-buyer failed to perform the conditions precedent to its right to sue under Paragraph 15, the express, unambiguous terms of Paragraph 16 provide that Plaintiff-buyer therefore has no right to sue.³²

D. That the REPC forever prohibits Plaintiff buyer from filing a lawsuit asserting any claim relating to the REPC is consistent with the intent of the parties

Numerous provisions in the contract confirm that the REPC forever prohibits Plaintiff buyer from filing a lawsuit asserting any claim relating to the REPC. (1) The phrase "The parties agree that any dispute or claim relating to this Contract, including but not limited to the disposition of the Earnest Money Deposit and the breach or termination of this Contract" at the beginning of Paragraph 15 is broad and all-encompassing of all claims Plaintiff buyer might assert. (2) The word "shall" is mandatory and appears in several places in Paragraph 15.³³

³¹. R. 10, ¶16, Addendum Exh. 2 (REPC).

³². "Under well-established principles of contract interpretation, where the duty of the obligor to perform is contingent upon the occurrence or existence of a condition precedent, the obligee may not require performance by the obligor, because the obligor's duty, and conversely the obligee's right to demand performance, does not arise until that condition occurs or exists. *See* 3A Arthur L. Corbin, *Corbin on Contracts* § 628, at 16 (1960). Failure of a material condition precedent relieves the obligor of any duty to perform. *See id.* § 630, at 20-21." *Harper v. Great Salt Lake Council, Inc.*, 1999 UT 34, ¶ 14, 976 P.2d 1213; see also *Low v. City of Monticello*, 2002 UT 90, 54 P.3d 1153.

³³. See e.g., Diener v. Diener, 2004 UT App 314, ¶ 12, 98 P.3d 1178: Ordinarily, the use of the word "shall" in a statute creates a mandatory condition, eliminating any discretion on the part of the courts. *See, e.g., Office of the Guardian Ad Litem v. Anderson*, 1999 UT App 251, ¶ 10, 987 P.2d 611; *Keith v. Rizzuto*, 212

(3) The clause, "If mediation fails, the procedures applicable and remedies available under this **Contract** shall apply" presupposes that mediation must occur *before* any other "procedures" or "remedies" under the contract can be invoked. (4) The phrase "Nothing in this Section shall prohibit the Buyer from seeking specific performance by the Seller by filing a complaint with the court," appears *after* the mandatory provisions for mediation, and hence anticipate that mediation must occur *before* such remedy is available to the buyer. (5) The proviso, "provided that the Buyer permits the Seller to refrain from answering the complaint pending mediation" anticipates that mediation is ongoing *before* any buyer action for specific performance might be brought. (6) The provision that "Also the parties may agree in writing to waive mediation" appearing at the end of Paragraph 15 shows that the only way in which the mandatory obligation to invoke mediation may be avoided is if the parties expressly agree to do so in writing.

(7) The phrase in Paragraph 16 that "Where a Section of this Contract provides a specific remedy, the parties intend that the remedy shall be exclusive regardless of rights which might otherwise be available under common law" is general and all-encompassing, thus precluding all claims Plaintiff buyer might now seek to assert.

In summary, the REPC as a whole forever prohibits Plaintiff buyer from filing any lawsuit asserting any claim "relating" to the REPC.

F.3d 1190, 1193 n. 3 (10th Cir.2000) ("It is a basic canon of statutory construction that the use of the word "shall" indicates a mandatory intent." (quoting United States v. Myers, 106 F.3d 936, 941 (10th Cir.1997)).

E. Defendant seller would be prejudiced and deprived of the benefit of his contract if Plaintiff buyer were allowed to re-file its lawsuit

Plaintiff buyer is the real estate arm of Larry Miller Enterprises which, by any measure, is an extremely sophisticated party in the marketplace.³⁴ The substantive provisions and remedies included in the contract--and particularly the specific procedures and timelines for asserting those substantive provisions and remedies--were intentionally inserted by the parties for their mutual protection. The contract was the subject of intense bargaining between the parties, as shown by the four (4) addenda to the contract that passed back and forth between the parties during their negotiations.³⁵ Significantly, Plaintiff buyer drafted the contract herein and therefore its terms should be construed against Plaintiff buyer.³⁶

As a result of Plaintiff buyer's failure to follow the procedures in the contract, Defendant seller was immediately forced to defend the lawsuit filed by Plaintiff buyer. Thus, Defendant seller would be deprived of the fruits of his contract, and the salutary policy objectives of conducting mediation before resorting to litigation would be nullified if Plaintiff seller were allowed to re-file its lawsuit.

³⁴. R. 2, ¶ 6 ("Plaintiff desired to buy the Property because its strategic location would serve to substantially grow and increase profits of Plaintiff's related businesses -- automobile dealerships, which adjoined the Property.").

³⁵. R. 13--18 (four (4) Addenda to REPC).

³⁶. Plaintiff buyer drafted the initial offer to purchase and submitted it to Defendant seller. R. 8, Addendum Exh. 2 (REPC: Offer drafted and submitted by Plaintiff buyer to Defendant seller); Wilburn v. Interstate Elec., 748 P.2d 582, 585-86 (Utah Ct. App. 1988)(ambiguities in a contract are construed against the drafter).

II. SINCE PLAINTIFF BUYER FAILED TO TIMELY COMPLY WITH THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THE CONTRACT AND IS NOW PROHIBITED BY THE CONTRACT FROM DOING SO THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE DISMISSED THE COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE

In Harper v. Great Salt Lake Council, Inc., 1999 UT 34, 976 P.2d 1213, a real estate contract was subject to the condition precedent that a third party not exercise a right of first refusal. The right was exercised by the third party, but the buyer nonetheless demanded specific performance from the seller. The Utah Supreme Court held that the third party's "exercise of its right of first refusal terminated any obligation [the seller] had to perform under the...contract" with the buyer.³⁷

Similarly here, Plaintiff buyer's failure to perform the mandatory conditions precedent and to conduct mediation in a timely manner terminated any obligation Defendant seller had to perform under the parties' contract. As a matter of law, no amendment or modification to the complaint can be asserted by Plaintiff buyer. Therefore, the district court should have dismissed the Plaintiff buyer's complaint **with prejudice**.

III. DEFENDANT SELLER IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Since Defendant seller was awarded attorney fees in the district court as the prevailing party, Defendant seller is also entitled to attorney fees on appeal and will make the appropriate motion pursuant to UTAH R. APP. P. 23.³⁸

³⁷. Harper v. Great Salt Lake Council, Inc., 1999 UT 34, ¶ 15, 976 P.2d 1213.

³⁸. UTAH R. APP. P. 23; Glew v. Ohio Savings Bank, 2007 UT 56, 181 P.3d 791, as supplemented on February 22, 2008 by 2008 UT 17, Order Granting Attorney Fees on Appeal, (It is the "settled view that a party who received an award of attorney fees [in the trial court] is entitled to their fees on appeal...").

IV. SECOND *IDENTICAL* LAWSUIT FILED BY PLAINTIFF BUYER; DEFENDANT SELLER'S REQUEST FOR STAY

Meanwhile, on September 7, 2007, the day after Judge Kennedy in this case announced his decision to dismiss Plaintiff buyer's suit, Plaintiff buyer filed a *second* lawsuit against Defendant.³⁹ The *second lawsuit* ("Judge Medley case") is *identical* to the lawsuit that Judge Kennedy dismissed below.⁴⁰ However, at a hearing on July 7, 2008, Judge Medley in the *second lawsuit* denied Defendant seller's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Stay in that proceeding.⁴¹

Therefore, concurrently with this Opening Brief, Defendant seller has filed a Petition for Emergency Relief or in the Alternative, a Motion for Stay Pending Appeal, to stay the **Judge Medley** case, pending the resolution of this appeal.

CONCLUSION

The district court's dismissal of Plaintiff buyer's lawsuit without prejudice should be reversed and the district court should be ordered to dismiss Plaintiff buyer's lawsuit with