2008

Miller Family Real Estate, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. Saied Hajizadeh, an individual, and Exclusive Cars, Inc., a Utah corporation: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly concluded that the Complaint should be dismissed "without prejudice." The Utah Supreme Court has clearly stated that failure to comply

with a contractual mediation clause does not result in the case being dismissed with prejudice. *State v. Ison*, 135 P.3d 864 (Utah 2006).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT DISMISSAL OF MILLER’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE “WITHOUT PREJUDICE.”

Hajizadeh’s contention that the dismissal of Miller’s Complaint should have been with prejudice is completely without merit. Hajizadeh argues that because Miller failed to make an offer of mediation (pursuant to Section 15 of the REPC) within 30 days after Miller noted the existence of a dispute, Miller is forever barred from filing suit against Hajizadeh. Stated otherwise, Hajizadeh contends that Section 15 of the REPC contains the equivalent of a 30-day statute of limitations to offer mediation. This contention is completely without merit as it is not supported by the plain language of the REPC nor is such supported by the relevant case law concerning invoking alternative dispute resolution provisions.

A. HAJIZADEH’S CONTENTION THAT THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION CLAUSE CONTAINS A 30-DAY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE REPC.

Section 15 of the REPC provided as follows:

15. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. The parties agree that any dispute or claim relating to this Contract, including but not limited to the disposition of the Earnest Money Deposit and the breach or termination of this Contract, shall first be submitted to mediation in accordance with the Utah Real Estate Buyer/Seller Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Each party agrees to bear its own costs of mediation. Mediation shall take place within 30 days after notice by either party of the existence of a dispute or claim. Any agreement signed by the parties pursuant to the mediation shall be binding. If mediation

fails, the procedures applicable and remedies available under this Contract shall apply. Nothing in this Section shall prohibit the Buyer from seeking specific performance by the Seller by filing a complaint with the court, serving it on the Seller by means of summons or as otherwise permitted by law, and recording a *lis pendens* with regard to the action; provided that the Buyer permits the Seller to refrain from answering the complaint pending mediation. Also the parties may agree in writing to waive mediation.¹ (Emphasis added.)

The language that Hajizadeh attempts to rely on to support his 30-Day Statute of Limitations contention—i.e., “Mediation shall take place within 30 days after notice by either party of the existence of a dispute or claim”—was clearly intended to mean that any mediation shall occur within 30 days after one of the parties gives notice to the other party of its willingness to mediate the relevant dispute. In other words, this provision was intended to prevent the non-requesting party from impeding the requesting party’s right to file a complaint by simply failing to timely respond to an offer of mediation or otherwise stringing out the mediation process.

Such provision does not mean, as Hajizadeh contends, that a party only has 30 days to make an offer of mediation after first noticing a potential dispute between the parties and that failure to do so forever bars a party from bringing any action to enforce the REPC. Such an interpretation would not make sense because it would not allow an opportunity for the parties to attempt to resolve their differences informally or for one

¹ Again, Miller maintains that the next to last sentence of Section 15 allows the Buyer (i.e., Miller) to file a complaint for specific performance before making an offer of mediation, which Miller attempted to do. (See REPC, § 15 at sentence stating “Nothing in this Section shall prohibit the Buyer from seeking specific performance by the Seller by filing a complaint with the court.”)

party to cure the default before the other party was forced to initiate the litigation process. Indeed, a 30-Day Statute of Limitations Period would likely violate the open court provision of article I, section 11 of the Utah Constitution, which guarantees that litigants will have their “day in court.” *Miller v. USAA Casualty Ins. Co.*, 44 P.3d 663, 673 (Utah 2002).

The language at issue in Section 15 has nothing to do with whether the REPC is valid (which it clearly is), or whether Hajizadeh is in default (it is undisputed that he is), it only addresses the sequence in which a party shall exercise its remedies and the speed with which a requested mediation must take place.

B. HAJIZADEH’S CONTENTION THAT THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION CLAUSE CONTAINS A 30-DAY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RELEVANT CASE LAW.

Hajizadeh has failed to cite any case law from any jurisdiction where a court ordered a dismissal with prejudice on the merits merely because one party failed to comply with a contractual mediation clause. Rather, Hajizadeh cites statutes that provide for mandatory mediation in certain situations and, thereafter, attempts to analogize the REPC dispute resolution clause as a “condition precedent” that relieves Hajizadeh of any obligation he had under the REPC and bars any subsequent lawsuit concerning the substantive breach. (*See* Appellant’s Brief at 7-9.) A condition precedent, however, concerns the parties’ fundamental obligations under the contract and not the timing or sequencing of any action addressing a party’s failure to perform his or her contractual obligations. In this case, it is undisputed that Miller performed its material obligations under the REPC and Hajizadeh did not.

Any failure to comply with a mediation requirement would not excuse Hajizadeh's nonperformance and/or forever bar Miller from taking legal action to remedy the same. *See State v. Ison*, 135 P.3d 864 (Utah 2006) (which clearly indicates that failure to comply with a contractual mediation clause does not result in the case being dismissed "with prejudice."). In *Ison* the Utah Supreme Court stated "[a]s a general proposition of contract law, a failure to properly invoke a dispute resolution provision will not excuse a breach of a substantive contract term." *Ison*, 135 P.3d at 873 (emphasis added). The Utah Supreme Court went on to say that "We are aware of no contract law authority ... to support the proposition that a party's failure to pursue an agreed-upon alternative dispute resolution method would excuse the breach that created the dispute." *Id.* at 874.

Miller disputes that it failed to properly comply the subject dispute resolution provision but even if it initially did, it would not be precluded from seeking redress for Hajizadeh's undisputed breach of the REPC by making an offer of mediation and, thereafter, filing a complaint. Thus, Hajizadeh's contention that Millers' Complaint should be dismissed "with prejudice" because Miller failed to properly comply with the dispute resolution provisions of Section 15 was properly rejected by the trial court, and Miller is entitled to have his case heard on the merits.

Similar to the Utah Supreme Court's holding in *Ison*, a number of other courts have also held that that the purported failure to properly comply with a mediation clause does not result in the action being dismissed "with prejudice." *See, e.g., Quick Print of New Orleans, Inc. v. Danka Office Imaging*, 2004 WL 1488656 (E.D. La.) (The court (citing *Texaco Exploration and Production Co. v. AmClyde Engineered Products Co.*,

Inc., 243 F.3 906, 908 (5th Cir. 2001)) stayed the suit pending mediation, but did not dismiss the action); *Haertt Wolff Parker, Inc. v. Howard S. Wright Const. Co.*, 1989 WL 151765 (D.Or.) (finding that when a party files a complaint without first attempting mediation (as required by the agreement), the court has the power to either stay the suit pending mediation, or to “dismiss the . . . claim with leave to refile without prejudice if the disputes are not resolved after referral to [the Mediator].”); *Willis Corroon Corp. of Utah, Inc. v. United Capitol Ins. Co.*, 1998 WL 30069 (N.D. Cal.) (wherein the party filed a court action one day too early (as the agreement between the parties required the party to wait until 30 days had expired after mediation), the court dismissed the action “without prejudice” to its refiling on the merits of the dispute stating “Dismissal without prejudice of a premature action gives force to the binding agreement, and does not alter the parties’ ultimate right to recover.”); *Eastbrook v. Piper Jaffray Companies*, 492 F. Supp 2d 922 (N.D. Illinois 2007) (which held that where the issues are all subject to alternative dispute resolution, “the preferable course is dismissal without prejudice.”). In the face of the foregoing case law (including the controlling Utah precedent of *Ison*), Hajizadeh has failed to cite a single case granting a dismissal with prejudice for failing to properly comply with an alternative dispute resolution clause.

In any event, Hajizadeh's ability to litigate the claim on the merits has not been prejudiced in any way.² Further, when Miller offered mediation in writing, Hajizadeh declined.³ In addition, mediation would not result in any kind of binding decision on the merits because mediation is merely a supervised negotiation. Thus, the trial court properly ruled that Miller was entitled to have its claim heard on the merits and that the Complaint should be dismissed "without prejudice."

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the district court's ruling that the Complaint was dismissed "without prejudice."